ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Florence County  
Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge

---

RECEIVED

NOV - 4 2013

S.C. Supreme Court

DEVODUS ROUSE,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

Appellate Case No. 2013-000474

---

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

TRISTAN M. SHAFFER  
*Pro Bono*  
P.O. Box 176  
Chapin, S.C. 29036

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

## ISSUES PRESENTED

I. In violation of Petitioner's right to the effective assistance of counsel as guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution, trial counsel failed to object to the trial court instructing the jury that it could consider the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter where no evidence existed to support a verdict of the offense.

II. Petitioner's conviction for voluntary manslaughter violates the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution where the record contains no evidence that Petitioner acted in the sudden heat of passion based upon sufficient legal provocation.

III. In violation of Petitioner's right to the effective assistance of counsel as guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution, trial counsel failed to request that the jury be instructed on the law of self-defense where evidence in the record indicated Petitioner acted in self-defense.

## STATEMENT

A Florence County grand jury indicted Petitioner for murder on April 10, 2008. App. 821 – 822. Petitioner was tried before the Honorable Ralph King Anderson, Jr. and a jury beginning on January 12, 2009. App. 1. Edgar Clements, III represented the state. H. Lee Herron represented Petitioner. App. 2. The jury found Petitioner guilty of the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter. App. 238, lines 23-25. The judge sentenced Petitioner to twenty-five years' imprisonment. App. 263, lines 11-12; App. 823. Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal. Joseph L. Savitz, III filed a brief pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967) on the half of Petitioner. App. 676 – 685. In an unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeals dismissed Petitioner's direct appeal. State v. Rouse, Op.No. 2011 – UP – 274 (S:C. Ct. App. June 8, 2011). App. 686 – 687. The remittitur was sent on June 28, 2011. App. 688.

Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief on June 20, 2011. App. 689 – 714. The matter proceeded to an evidentiary hearing before the Honorable Thomas Russo on October 15, 2012. Tristan Schaffer represented Petitioner, and Tyson Andrew Johnson Sr. represented the state. App. 720. On November 6, 2012, Judge Russo denied Petitioner relief from his conviction and sentence. App. 794 – 799. Petitioner filed a timely motion to reconsider. App. 800 – 818. On February 6, 2013, Judge Russo denied Petitioner's motion to reconsider. App. 819 – 820.

Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal. This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

## ARGUMENT

I. In violation of Petitioner's right to the effective assistance of counsel as guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution, trial counsel failed to object to the trial court instructing the jury that it could consider the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter where no evidence existed to support a verdict of the offense.

### **Relevant facts**

#### Facts produced at trial

Petitioner is serving a twenty-five year sentence for voluntary manslaughter in a case where the state alleged that Petitioner killed decedent during an armed robbery. App. 134, lines 22-24; App. 155, line 5 – App. 157, line 7; App. 164, lines 2-6. All the evidence presented at trial supported one of the following theories: 1) Petitioner did not shoot decedent; 2) Petitioner made a conscious decision to shoot decedent after decedent pulled a gun on Petitioner; or 3) Petitioner shot decedent while trying to rob him.

At trial, defense counsel argued that Petitioner did not shoot decedent. Trial Counsel instead argued that some other person must have killed decedent. App. 178, line 7 – App. 185, line 16. This was supported by the fact that one of the state's star witnesses, Douglas Washington, was planning on robbing decedent. App. 412, line 23 – App. 413, line 11. Furthermore, decedent's gun was later found on a person with no ties to Petitioner. App. 416, line 24 – App. 417, line 4. Moreover, the state failed to present any physical evidence linking Petitioner to the shooting. App. 416, lines 11-15.

Two of the state's witnesses testified Petitioner told them the decedent pulled a gun on Petitioner and Petitioner shot him because it was "him or me." App. 74, lines 12-14; App. 339

lines 15-17. Despite this language, trial counsel declined to request a self-defense jury instruction. App. 125, lines 3 – App. 126, lines 25.

The state’s theory of the case was that Petitioner murdered decedent during an alleged armed robbery. The state called witnesses to try and establish that Petitioner had robbed decedent. App. 78, lines 9-14; App. 315, lines 4-19; App. 340, lines 5-20; App. 367, lines 18-25; App. 384, lines 16-21; App. 70, line 2 – App. 71, line 12; App. 751, lines 22-25.

During a charge conference the state requested a charge on the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter. However, there was no evidence that Petitioner shot the decedent because he was enraged or incapable of cool reflection. Moreover, there was no evidence that showed Petitioner shot decedent while acting on an uncontrollable impulse to do violence. Defense counsel did not object even though he later admitted that there is no evidence to support a charge of voluntary manslaughter.

After several hours of deliberation and an Allen<sup>1</sup> charge, the jury convicted Petitioner of voluntary manslaughter.

#### Facts produced at the PCR hearing

At the post-conviction relief hearing, Petitioner argued that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the voluntary manslaughter charge. App. 727, lines 9-14. Trial counsel testified that there was no evidence in the record to support the charge. App. 745, lines 9-11. However, Trial counsel choose not to object because he believed the voluntary manslaughter instruction, “really helped [Petitioner] because the jury came back with not guilty of murder, but found him guilty of voluntary manslaughter.” App. 746, lines 5-7.

---

<sup>1</sup> Allen v. United States, 164 U.S. 492 (1896).

Trial counsel testified that he spoke to Petitioner about this decision. App. 746, lines 10-16. However, trial counsel was unable to recall when this conversation took place and admitted that it might have occurred after the charge conference. App. 758, lines 18 – App. 759, line 8. Trial counsel also testified that after the charge conference Petitioner was unwilling to plead guilty to any charge. App. 730, lines 15-25.

At the hearing, the state never argued that there was any evidence of voluntary manslaughter. Instead, the state argued that Petitioner benefited from the charge because “instead of being found guilty of murder, he was found guilty of manslaughter.” App. 781, lines 17-19.

#### Order of Dismissal

The PCR court found that trial counsel employed a reasonable trial strategy in not objecting to an erroneous charge. App 798. The court also found that Petitioner was not prejudiced, noting that “[Petitioner] was convicted of voluntary manslaughter rather than murder.” App. 798.

#### **Discussion**

“Voluntary manslaughter is the unlawful killing of a human being in sudden heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation.” State v. Wharton, 381 S.C. 209, 214, 672 S.E.2d 786, 788 (2009). In order for a judge to charge voluntary manslaughter there must be some evidence of both sufficient legal provocation and heat of passion. State v. Smith, 391 S.C. 408, 413, 706 S.E.2d 12, 15 (2011); see also, State v. Knoten, 347 S.C. 296, 302, 555 S.E.2d 391, 394 (2001) (“The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial.”). “[I]n order to constitute ‘sudden heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation,’ the fear must be the result of sufficient legal provocation and cause the defendant to lose control and create an

uncontrollable impulse to do violence.” See State v. Starnes, 388 S.C. 590, 598, 698 S.E.2d 604, 609 (2010). Evidence of a struggle during an armed robbery is not sufficient legal provocation. State v. Tyson, 283 S.C. 375, 379, 323 S.E.2d 770, 772 (1984); see also, State v. Shuler, 344 S.C. 604, 632, 545 S.E.2d 805, 819 (2001).

The evidence presented at Petitioner’s trial did not support a jury instruction on voluntary manslaughter. Although there was testimony that decedent pulled a gun on Petitioner, alone, this is insufficient to give rise to an instruction on voluntary manslaughter. See Starnes, 388 S.C. at 597, 698 S.E.2d at 608 (“[A] defendant is not entitled to voluntary manslaughter merely because he was legally provoked.”). Merely being afraid is not enough to justify an instruction for voluntary manslaughter; a person must be “acting under an uncontrollable impulse to do violence and be incapable of cool reflection as a result of the fear.” Id., at 599, 698 S.E.2d at 609. The trial transcript is devoid of any evidence that Petitioner acted in sudden heat of passion.

Moreover, under the state’s theory of the case, there is was no legal provocation. At trial, the state’s theory of the case was that decedent was defending himself against an armed robbery. Therefore, the state’s own theory of the case does not coincide with voluntary manslaughter. See Shuler, 344 S.C. at 632, 545 S.E.2d at 819 (“A victim’s attempts to resist or defend himself from a crime cannot satisfy the sufficient legal provocation element of voluntary manslaughter.”).

Therefore, there was no evidentiary basis for instructing the jury on voluntary manslaughter.

#### Deficient Performance

In order for post-conviction relief to be granted based off ineffective assistance of counsel an applicant must prove that counsel was deficient and that he was prejudiced by counsel’s performance. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). Even strategic

decisions made by counsel are deficient when they are objectively unreasonable. See Sanchez v. State, 351 S.C. 270, 276, 569 S.E.2d 363, 365-366 (2002). Courts have found that a trial strategy is objectively unreasonable when it is based upon a misunderstanding of the law. See e.g. Dawkins v. State, 346 S.C. 151, 156, 551 S.E.2d 260, 262 (2001) (“Since the testimony was inadmissible hearsay, counsel’s failure to object to the introduction of that evidence fell below an objective standard of reasonableness.”); Matthews v. State, 350 S.C. 272, 565 S.E.2d 766, 767 (2002) (“[C]ounsel cannot assert trial strategy as a defense for failure to object to comments which constitute an error of law and are inherently prejudicial.”); Gallman v. State, 307 S.C. 273, 414 S.E.2d 780 (1992) (“[W]e hold that trial counsel’s failure to discern the prejudicial effect of the judge’s comments and interpose the appropriate objections downgrades his representation to a level below an objective standard of reasonableness).

The PCR Court found that trial counsel employed a valid trial strategy in not objecting to the voluntary manslaughter instruction. However, this strategy invited the jury to ignore the law and render what was likely a compromised verdict in violation of Petitioner’s right to Due Process. See State v. Cooley, 342 S.C. 63, 70, 536 S.E.2d 666, 670 (2000) (“Since the jury heard no evidence of legal provocation, Defendant’s voluntary manslaughter conviction suggests that the jury may have compromised between murder and involuntary manslaughter or accident in reaching their verdict ... [t]his is a cautionary tale for solicitors as to the pitfalls of requesting a potential ‘compromise’ charge which is unsupported by the evidence. Although the result is an unsatisfactory one, this situation is controlled by the precedent of the United States Supreme Court which we cannot ignore.”).

Moreover, Petitioner consistently told counsel that he did not want to plead guilty to any charge. Therefore Counsel had no authority to expose him a possible sentence for voluntary

manslaughter when there was no evidence to support the charge. See Bookhart v. Janis, 384 U.S. 1 (1960) (holding that counsel may not override his client's decision not to plea and enter the functional equivalent to a guilty plea.); see also Rule 1.2 (a), RPC, Rule 407, SCACR ("In a criminal case, the lawyer shall abide by the client's decision, after consultation with the lawyer, as to a plea to be entered, whether to waive jury trial and whether the client will testify.").

### Prejudice

The PCR court erred in finding that Petitioner was not prejudiced by assuming that the jury would have convicted him of murder if it had not been instructed on voluntary manslaughter. App. 798. The PCR Court noted, "[Petitioner] was convicted of voluntary manslaughter rather than murder." Essentially, the PCR Court found that Petitioner was not prejudiced by assuming that the jury would have convicted him of murder if not for the lesser-included offense. This assumption is improper. See Cooley, 342 S.C. at 70, 536 S.E.2d at 670 ("[I]t is fair to assume that at least one member of the jury may have believed the state's position that Defendant murdered Victim by shooting her with a shotgun in the face at close range. However, due to the error in granting the solicitor's request for a voluntary manslaughter charge, Defendant will not have to face a jury of his peers on the charge of murder again.").

Moreover, this assumption is discredited by the trial record which indicates that the jury deliberated for several hours and was given an Allen charge prior to convicting Petitioner of voluntary manslaughter.

II. Petitioner's conviction for voluntary manslaughter violates the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution where the record contains no evidence that Petitioner acted in the sudden heat of passion based upon sufficient legal provocation.

### **Relevant facts**

Petitioner incorporates by reference the factual recitation provided in Issue I, supra. In addition to the ineffective assistance of counsel claim raised in Issue I of this petition, Petitioner argues that the absence of evidence denied him due process. These were raised to the PCR court as distinct issues. App. 727, lines 9-14; App. 784, lines 13-23. However, the PCR court did not rule on this issue as a distinct issue from his ineffective assistance of counsel issue. App. 798. In a motion to reconsider, Petitioner requested that the PCR court rule on this issue. App. 802-803. In ruling on the motion to reconsider, the PCR court found “[Petitioner] has presented no justification for disturbing the Dismissal of the case and the prior Order.” App. 819.

### **Discussion**

In addition to the governing legal principles and analysis discussed below, Petitioner incorporates the relevant case law and analysis in Issue I, supra.

“[I]t is a violation of due process to convict and punish a man without evidence of his guilt.” Thompson v. City of Louisville, 362 U.S. 199 (1960). Nevertheless, Petitioner is currently serving a twenty-five year sentence for manslaughter despite the fact that both the state and trial attorney have indicated that there is no evidence to support a voluntary manslaughter charge. App. 156, lines 9-18; App. 157, lines 3-7; App. 745, lines 9- 16; App. 747, lines 9-15; App. 754, lines 2-7.

The Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments require that the state must prove each element of a crime beyond a reasonable doubt. See State v. Brown, 360 S.C. 581, 595, 602

S.E.2d 392, 400 (2004) (“[T]he United States Supreme Court recently has re-emphasized the constitutional protections of surpassing importance contained in the Fourteenth Amendment’s due process clause and the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial, which indisputably entitle a defendant to a jury determination that he is guilty of every element of the crime which he is charged, beyond a reasonable doubt.” (internal quotations omitted)); see also, In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358 (1970) (“[W]e explicitly hold that the Due Process Clause protects the accused against conviction except upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to constitute the crime with which he is charged.”); Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 314 (1979) (“A meaningful opportunity to defend, if not the right to trial itself, presumes as well that a total want of evidence to support a charge will conclude the case in favor of the accused.”).

It is inconceivable to say that a person was afforded due process of law when a court allowed the person to be convicted of a lesser offense when there was no evidence that he committed that offense. This is true even when there was evidence that would support the greater charge, of which the jury acquitted Petitioner. As stated previously, it is undisputed there is no evidence to support a charge of voluntary manslaughter; therefore, Petitioner was denied due process and his conviction must be overturned. See Thompson, supra.

III. In violation of Petitioner's right to the effective assistance of counsel as guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution, trial counsel failed to request that the jury be instructed on the law of self-defense where evidence in the record indicated Petitioner acted in self-defense.

### **Relevant facts**

#### Facts produced at the trial

Evidence of self-defense permeated Petitioner's trial. In his opening statement, the prosecutor informed the jury that Petitioner's girlfriend, Farhonda<sup>2</sup> Pompey would testify that Petitioner told her what happened, including "the claim ... it was him or me." App. 305, lines 4-6. As the prosecutor promised, Pompey testified regarding her conversation with Petitioner after the shooting. Pompey picked up Petitioner on January 2, 2007 in Florence County when he called asking for a ride. App. 63, lines 17-22. While the two were discussing the events of the evening, Petitioner said, "It was either him or me." App. 74, lines 12 - 24. The deceased "pulled out a gun" and the two were fighting. App. 75, lines 22-24.<sup>3</sup> Petitioner did not say anything about trying to rob the deceased. App. 76, lines 5-11. The next day Petitioner had a bruise above his right eye, which he got from struggling with the deceased. App. 78, lines 4-12.

After the shooting, Petitioner and his girlfriend picked up Travis James walking down the street. App. 602, line 6 – App. 603, line 9. While in the car, Petitioner informed James that the deceased was dead. App. 603, line 20 – App. 604, line 5. James noticed Petitioner had a scratch on

---

<sup>2</sup> Ms. Pompey's first name appears in the record spelled Farhonda and Feronda.

<sup>3</sup> Michael Brandt, a police officer, responded to the Marion Police Department on May 29, 2007, where he recovered the deceased's nine millimeter pistol. Ballistics testing revealed the deceased's gun did not fire the casing found at the scene. App. 359, line 1 – App. 360, line 12.

his face. App. 604, lines 5-9. Additionally, Petitioner told James “it was either him or me” in connection with the shooting. App. 604, lines 15-21.

While arguing against Petitioner’s motion for directed verdict, the prosecutor used Petitioner’s statement “it was him or me” to support his position that substantial circumstantial evidence that Petitioner killed the deceased with malice aforethought existed. App. 109, lines 3-9. During the charge conference, the prosecutor requested an instruction concerning the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter based upon Petitioner saying “it was either him or me.” App. 115, lines 11-22. However, when the judge inquired if the parties would like for him to charge self-defense, the prosecution objected, again referring to Petitioner’s statement – “it was him or me” – to argue against self-defense. Inexplicably, trial counsel agreed with the prosecution that self-defense was inapplicable. App. 125, line 5 – App. 126, line 25.

Finally, in closing arguments, the prosecutor used Petitioner’s statement – “it was him or me” – as his central argument for why the jury should convict. In fact, the prosecutor began his argument as follows: “I got a chain. I got a bag of weed. And it was him or me.” App. 132, lines 5-7. When countering any of Petitioner’s claims that someone else may have shot the deceased, the prosecution argued that Petitioner’s statement to Pompey and James that “it was him or me” was evidence that Petitioner was guilty. App. 155, lines 1-4; App. 164, line 25 - App. 165, line 1; App. 166, lines 14-17. After arguing the statement supported a guilty verdict, the prosecutor said “you’re not entitled to a charge on the law of self-defense if you’re robbing somebody and they try to defend themselves and you shoot them.” App. 155, lines 5-8. In fact, the prosecutor argued that if the jury believed Petitioner’s statement – “it was him or me” – meant that Petitioner “had to shoot” the deceased, then the jury should find him guilty of voluntary manslaughter. App. 156, line 19 – App. 157, line 1.

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