ALAN WILSON  
ATTORNEY GENERAL

RECEIVED

FEB 20 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

February 20, 2014

**VIA HAND DELIVERY**

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. Probative evidence supports the PCR judge's finding trial counsel was not ineffective in failing to object to Judge Anderson submitting a voluntary manslaughter charge for the jury's consideration.**

Petitioner asserts the PCR judge erred in finding trial counsel was not ineffective in failing to object to Judge Anderson allowing the jury to consider voluntary manslaughter as a lesser-included offense. However, the record indicates probative evidence exists to support the PCR judge's finding trial counsel made a strategic decision to allow the jury to consider the lesser-included offense. Therefore, Respondent submits the PCR judge properly denied Petitioner's application.

In a post-conviction relief action, the applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in his application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985) (citing Griffin v. Martin, 278 S.C. 620, 300 S.E.2d 482 (1983)). Where the application alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Id. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814 (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)).

The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Id. The court presumes counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668). The applicant must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989).

The court uses a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. Id. First, the applicant must prove counsel's performance was

deficient. Under this prong, the court measures an attorney's performance by its "reasonableness under professional norms." Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688). Second, any deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Id. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

On appeal, this Court gives great deference to the PCR judge's findings of fact and conclusions of law. Dempsey v. State, 363 S.C. 365, 368, 610 S.E.2d 812, 814 (2005) (citing Caprood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 525 S.E.2d 514 (2000)). The Court must affirm the denial of post-conviction relief when there is probative evidence to support the PCR judge's findings. Wolfe v. State, 326 S.C. 158, 163, 485 S.E.2d 367, 369 (1997) (citing McCray v. State, 317 S.C. 557, 455 S.E.2d 686 (1995); Cherry, 300 S.C. at 115, 386 S.E.2d at 624)).

At the PCR hearing, trial counsel testified he believed the solicitor made a mistake in requesting a voluntary manslaughter charge. (App. p. 745). However, he did not believe it was his responsibility to object to the solicitor's mistake when it benefitted Petitioner. (App. p. 745). Trial counsel testified he advised Petitioner he did not "like the way things were going" in the trial. (App. p. 729). As a result, he explained he discussed a plea to anything other than murder in an effort to avoid the mandatory thirty (30) year minimum sentence. (App. p. 730). In that regard, trial counsel explained to Petitioner the only options without the voluntary manslaughter charge were a conviction for murder or an acquittal. (App. p. 746). Trial counsel informed Petitioner the lesser-included offense gave him another "out" to avoid a mandatory sentence. (App. p. 748, 754). Trial counsel admitted the only evidence of legal provocation was Petitioner's

“him or me” statement.<sup>2</sup> (App. p. 746). However, he testified his trial strategy once the solicitor asked for voluntary manslaughter was to not object to the charge in hopes of saving Petitioner from the mandatory minimum for murder. (App. p. 754).

Trial counsel is entitled to a strong presumption he “exercised reasonable professional judgment in making all significant decisions in the case.” Edwards v. State, 392 S.C. 449, 456-57, 710 S.E.2d 60, 64 (2011) (citing Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 331, 642 S.E.2d 590, 596 (2007)). When trial counsel “articulates a valid reason for employing a certain strategy, such conduct generally will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel. The validity of counsel’s strategy is viewed under an ‘objective standard of reasonableness.’” Id. (quoting Lounds v. State, 380 S.C. 454, 462, 670 S.E.2d 646, 650 (2008)). This Court should evaluate trial counsel’s decisions at the time they were made and avoid second-guessing his tactics. Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689; Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 417 S.E.2d 529 (1992)).

Here, trial counsel articulated a valid strategy for failing to object to Judge Anderson’s submission of the voluntary manslaughter charge to the jury. Trial counsel felt the inclusion of a lesser-included offense benefitted his client. He testified the trial was not progressing favorably for Petitioner, and the lesser-included offense decreased the likelihood of a conviction for murder. Moreover, the solicitor and trial judge believed there was some evidence to support a voluntary manslaughter charge. (App. pp. 115-17). Although trial counsel may not have believed the evidence existed, he clearly believed

---

<sup>2</sup> Contrary to Petitioner’s contention, trial counsel did not testify there was no evidence to support the charge. (Pet. for Writ of Cert. at 5). Rather, he testified he “didn’t see the legal provocation there other than the ‘him or me’ thing, but that wasn’t our theory of the case.” (App. p. 746). As will be discussed in Section II, infra, credible evidence existed from which the jury could conclude Petitioner was guilty of voluntary manslaughter.

the possibility of a voluntary manslaughter conviction was advantageous in light of the possibility of a murder conviction.

Trial counsel's strategy is further justified by the fact the jury convicted Petitioner of voluntary manslaughter. Trial counsel was clearly hoping to reduce Petitioner's exposure below the minimum thirty (30) years for murder. The voluntary manslaughter verdict resulted in Judge Anderson sentencing Petitioner to twenty-two (22) years, validating trial counsel's strategy. Therefore, the PCR judge did not err in finding trial counsel was not deficient for not objecting to the voluntary manslaughter charge and Petitioner was not prejudiced by the voluntary manslaughter conviction.

Because the record contains significant probative evidence trial counsel acted reasonably and within professional norms when implementing Petitioner's trial strategy and that no prejudice resulted from trial counsel's actions, the PCR judge did not err in denying the application for post-conviction relief. Wolfe, 326 S.C. at 163, 485 S.E.2d at 369.

## **II. Petitioner's due process rights are not violated by his conviction for voluntary manslaughter.**

Petitioner argues his conviction violates due process because the record contains no evidence to support a voluntary manslaughter conviction. However, evidence exists to support submitting the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter for the jury's consideration. Therefore, Respondent submits the PCR judge properly denied Petitioner's application.

As an initial matter, Respondent contends post-conviction relief is not the proper venue to challenge Petitioner's conviction on due process grounds. Petitioner's argument is that the facts presented at trial do not support a his conviction. This is the same

argument raised by trial counsel in his post-trial motions. (App. p. 248).<sup>3</sup> Therefore, the argument regarding the insufficiency of the evidence was preserved for review on appeal. Because appellate counsel filed an Anders brief on appeal, the Court of Appeals reviewed this preserved issue before dismissing the direct appeal. McHam v. State, 404 S.C. 465, 475, 746 S.E.2d 41, 46-47 (2013) (“Under the Anders procedure, an appellate court is required to review the entire record, including the complete trial transcript, for any preserved issues with potential merit.” (citing State v. Williams, 305 S.C. 116, 406 S.E.2d 357 (1991); State v. Lawrence, 349 S.C. 129, 561 S.E.2d 633 (Ct. App. 2002))). Because PCR is not a substitute for direct appeal, this issue cannot be raised at this juncture of the proceedings. Humbert v. State, 345 S.C. 332, 338, 548 S.E.2d 862, 866 (2001) (citing Drayton v. Evatt, 312 S.C. 4, 430 S.E.2d 517 (1993)).

Regardless, Petitioner’s allegation of a due process violation is without merit. Evidence existed to support a charge on voluntary manslaughter. No witnesses testified to actually seeing Petitioner shoot the victim. However, Farhonda Pompey testified Applicant did not like the victim calling her, indicating there was bad blood between Petitioner and the victim. (App. p. 62). She further testified Petitioner admitted to the victim having a gun and fighting with him. (App. p. 70, 75). Petitioner also told her “it was either me or him.”<sup>4</sup> (App. p. 74). A second witness also heard Petitioner make this statement. (App. p. 604).

---

<sup>3</sup> “And I don’t believe the standard of the State has been met; that there’s substantial evidence that was to prove this Defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt, Your Honor.”

<sup>4</sup> Petitioner incorrectly states the solicitor used this “him or me” statement to support the position Petitioner killed the victim with malice aforethought. (Pet. for Writ of Cert. at 13). Instead, the solicitor argued to the jury that this statement made Petitioner guilty of the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter. (App. pp. 156-57).

It is proper to charge voluntary manslaughter as a lesser-included offense to murder where the defendant and victim had a heated argument prior to the murder. State v. Locklair, 341 S.C. 352, 360, 535 S.E.2d 420, 424 (2000) (citing State v. Wiggins, 330 S.C. 538, 500 S.E.2d 489 (1998); State v. Lowry, 315 S.C. 396, 434 S.E.2d 272 (1993); State v. Davis, 278 S.C. 544, 298 S.E.2d 778 (1983)). Here, there was some evidence Petitioner and the victim argued in the form of Petitioner's statement it was "him or me." This statement is consistent with the theory Petitioner fought with the victim before the murder.<sup>5</sup> See Wiggins, 330 S.C. at 549, 500 S.E.2d at 495 (charge supported by fear for one's life); Lowry, 315 S.C. at 299, 434 S.E.2d at 274 (charge supported by heated argument and the victim's initiation of a physical encounter); Davis, 278 S.C. at 546, 298 S.E.2d at 779 (charge supported by fighting).<sup>6</sup> Therefore, Petitioner's statement is sufficient to submit a voluntary manslaughter charge to the jury. See Lowry, 315 S.C. at 399, 434 S.E.2d at 274 ("To warrant a court's eliminating the offense of manslaughter, it should very clearly appear that there is no evidence whatsoever tending to reduce the crime from murder to manslaughter." (citing State v. Norris, 253 S.C. 31, 168 S.E.2d 564 (1969))). Because the jury was presented evidence of an argument or struggle, the lesser-included offense was proper and due process is not violated.

Furthermore, Petitioner cannot show prejudice from his conviction of the lesser-included offense of manslaughter. The evidence at trial overwhelmingly indicated Petitioner shot the victim. Carolyn Washington, Quandeline Washington, Travis James, and Douglas Washington all testified the victim was outside alone with Petitioner. (App.

---

<sup>5</sup> Interestingly, Applicant testified at the PCR hearing that he had prior incidents with the victim, and that they scuffled prior to the murder. (App. pp. 765-66).

<sup>6</sup> Judge Anderson's charge on voluntary manslaughter thoroughly addresses the possibility the jury could convict Petitioner of the lesser-included offense based on provocation by the victim. (App. p. 209).

p. 491; p. 539; p. 588; p. 640). Furthermore, Petitioner admitted the shooting to Travis James and Douglas Washington. (App. p. 604; p. 648). The only logical conclusion from the evidence is Petitioner shot the victim. The jury's guilty verdict on the voluntary manslaughter charge likewise indicated they believed Petitioner shot the victim. Therefore, the only way for Petitioner to avoid a murder conviction was for the jury to believe he did not shoot the victim with malice aforethought. The jury could not have considered a lesser mental state without the instruction on voluntary manslaughter. Because the jury was allowed to consider the lesser-included offense, they chose to believe Petitioner was not guilty of murder. As a result, his twenty-two (22) year sentence for voluntary manslaughter is less than he would have been required to serve had the jury convicted him of murder. Therefore, Petitioner benefitted from the jury's consideration of the lesser-included offense.

If the issue is properly raised, the record contains evidence to support Petitioner's voluntary manslaughter conviction. Accordingly, his conviction and sentence does not violate his due process rights. Therefore, the PCR judge did not err in denying the application for post-conviction relief.

**III. Probative evidence supports the PCR judge's finding trial counsel was not ineffective in failing to request a self-defense charge.**

Petitioner asserts trial counsel was ineffective in failing to request a charge on self-defense. However, probative evidence supports the PCR judge's finding trial counsel was not ineffective and articulated a reasonable trial strategy.

Trial counsel testified Petitioner's defense was always that he did not shoot the victim. (App. p. 732, 741). He further testified he did not want to ask for a self-defense charge because he argued to the jury Petitioner did not commit the shooting. (App p.

737, 752). He further testified he would have lost credibility if he told the jury two contrasting stories regarding whether Petitioner shot the victim. (App p. 737). Trial counsel also testified he never considered a self-defense theory because Petitioner always maintained he never committed the crime. (App p. 753). Trial counsel stated Petitioner never indicated there was any version of events where he fought with the victim. (App p. 769).

Here, trial counsel articulated a valid strategy for not pursuing a self-defense charge. Edwards, 392 S.C. at 456-57, 710 S.E.2d at 64. Trial counsel hoped the jury would believe Petitioner did not shoot the victim. To argue self-defense, he would have to admit to the jury Petitioner did shoot the victim, but with justification. These are clearly two inconsistent arguments. Trial counsel articulated a valid strategy of trying to convince the jury Petitioner did not shoot the victim.<sup>7</sup> A charge on self-defense would have been inconsistent with this strategy. Trial counsel therefore made a reasonable decision to maintain credibility with the jury. Thus, the PCR judge properly found trial counsel articulated a valid trial strategy in not pursuing a self-defense charge.

Because the record contains significant probative evidence that trial counsel acted reasonably and within professional norms when implementing Petitioner's trial strategy and that no prejudice<sup>8</sup> resulted from trial counsel's actions, the PCR judge did not err in

---

<sup>7</sup> Trial counsel's based this decision in great part on Petitioner's denial of any involvement in the shooting. It is axiomatic that trial counsel cannot develop a trial strategy around a defense Petitioner maintains is not valid. See McCray v. State, 317 S.C. 557, 560, 455 S.E.2d 686, 688 (1995) (counsel not ineffective in pursuing a defense where petitioner denied any involvement in the crime).

<sup>8</sup> Contrary to Petitioner's argument, the length of the jury's deliberations is not evidence of prejudice from failure to request the charge. See State v. Hale, 284 S.C. 348, 356, 326 S.E.2d 418, 422 (Ct. App. 1985). As articulated in Sections I and II, supra, Petitioner cannot demonstrate prejudice because the evidence clearly indicated he shot the victim.

denying the application for post-conviction relief. Wolfe, 326 S.C. at 163, 485 S.E.2d at 369.

**CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent respectfully requests this Court deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari.